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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UNITED STATESOF AMERICA exrel,
AzamRahimiandRadif Rashidetal.

Plaintiffs,
Civil Action No. 15-6536BRM-DEA
V.

ZYDUS PHARMACEUTICALS (USA),
INC., etal., : OPINION
Defendans. :

MARTINOTTI , DISTRICT JUDGE

Before this Court is DefendantZydus Pharmaceutical§USA), Inc.’s (“Defendant” or
“Zydus”) Motion to Dismissthe First AmendedComplaint ofPlaintiffs/RelatorsAzam Rahimi
(“Rahimi”) andRadif Rashid(“Rashid”) (together,'Relators”). (ECFNo. 101.)Relatorsoppose
the motion.(ECFNo. 106.) Pursuartb Feceral Rule ofCivil Procedure 7@®), the Court did not
hearoral argumentFor therea®nssetforth below, Defendant motionis GRANTED in part
andDENIED in part.

l. BACKGROUND

a. Procedural History

Forthe purposes dhis Motionto Dismiss,the Courtacceptghefactualallegationsn the
Complaintastrue anddrawsall inferencesn thelight most favorabldo Plaintiff. SeePhillips v.
Cty. of Allegheny515 F.3d 224, 22@d Cir. 2008).0n June 21, 201Rahimifiled in theUnited
StatedDistrict Courtfor the EasterrDistrict of TexasanOriginal Complaint Pursuartb 31U.S.C.

88 3729-3732FederalFalseClaimsAct (“FCA”) andVariousStateFCAs, and PendanClaims
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(the“Original Complaint”).(ECFNo. 1.) TheOriginal Complaintvasfiled onbehalfof theUnited
Statesf Americg twenty-eight(28) statestheDistrict of ColumbiaandtheCity of Chicago. Id.)
OnDecembed 6, 2011 Rahimifiled aFirstAmended Complint(“FAC”) to,amongotherthings,
add Rashidas an additional eélator (ECF No. 9.) The FAC’s factual allegations however,are
essentialljunchangedrom thosein the Original Complaint.(Compared. with ECFNo. 1.)

On January22, 2014 District JudgeRichardA. Schell of the EasternDistrict of Texas
lifted the sealon this action (ECF No. 12) after the Governmentiled a Notice of Election to
DeclineIntervention(ECFNo. 10)!

While this action was pendingin the EasternDistrict of Texas, on January9, 2015,
defendantsamovedto dismissthe FAC. (ECF No. 34.) By separatanotion filed the sameday,
Zydus movedin thealternative to transfervenueto this Court. ECFNo. 41.) In responséo the
motionto dismiss the Governmerfiled a Statemenbf Interest.(ECFNo. 48.) Relatorsopposed
both themotionto dismissandmotionto transfervenue. ECFNos. 57,58.) On August6, 2015,
Ordergranting defendantshotionto transfervenuewasentered (ECFNo. 81.)Priorto ruling on
the motion to dismiss,on August 28, 2015District Judge RorClark of the EasternDistrict of
Texasenteredan Order overruling Relators’ objectionsto the Order to TransferVenue and

transferringthe caseto this Court. ECFNo. 83.Y

1 Subsequently, theasewastransferredo the docket oDistrict Judge RorClark of theEastern
District of Texasandreferredto MagistrateJudge Carolin€ravenfor further proceedingstECF
No. 51.)

2 After thecasewastransferredo this Court,Relatorseachedinagreemento resolvetheir claims

againstdefendants MallinckrodPharmaceuticalsTyco International, Ltd., Tyco Healthcare
GroupLP, andCovidien(collectively, the “MallinckrodtDefendants”) (SeeECF No. 117.)The

Mallinckrodt Defendantsvere subsequentlgismissedrom the case(ECF No. 152),and Zydus

is the onlyremainingdefendant.



Zydus nowmovesto dismissthe FAC in its entirety pursuanto FederalRulesof Civil
Proceduré(b), 12(b)(1)and12(b)(6) (ECFNo. 101.)}

b. Relators’ Factual Allegations

Relatorsallege Zydushasbeenfraudulentlyinflating its pricesfor certaingenericdrugs
since 2005 by reporting inflated Average WholesalePrices (“AWP”) to various drugprice
publishergthe“Publishers”)knowingMedicaidwould rely on thosepricesto setreimbursement
ratesfor Zydus’'sGenericDrugs. (ECF No. 9 at {1 2-3.)RelatorsallegeZydus sold th&eneric
Drugsto its retail customerst pricesfar lower thanthepricesit reportedo the Publisherandthe
amountsthat Medicaid ultimately reimbursedfor the drugs.(Id. at § 3.) Relatorsallege Zydus
knowingly reportedfraudulentlyinflated prices to ensureits retail pharmacycustomerswho
dispense Zydus'&enericDrugsreceivednflatedreimbursemenandprofits from Medicaid.(ld.)
Relatorsfurther allegeZydus usedthe “spread” betweenits fraudulentlyinflated pricesandthe
pricesofferedto retail customersas a meansof inducingretail customergo purchase Zydus’s
GenericDrugs.(ld.)

The FAC alleges Zydus’'s nationwide fraudulentpricing schemealso inflated the
reimbursementatesset by the federalgovernmentvhen establishingthe FederalUpper Limit

(“FUL”) pricingceilingsfor qualifiedgeneric drugsld. at{ 4.)Accordingto theFAC, thefederal

3 After Zydus’smotion to dismisswas fully-briefed, Relatorsfiled a Motionto Dismiss Count
XXXIII, assertedn behalfof the City of Chicago.(ECF No. 116.) Becauséthe City ha[d] no
objection to the dismissal, with prejudice, of Count XXXIIl of Relators’ First Amended
Complaint,andto the dismissal,without prejudice,of the City asa partyin the suit” (ECF No.
141),andno other oppositiowasfiled, the CourtgrantedRelators’motiononJanuary23, 2017.
(ECFNo. 152.)

4 The genericdrugsat issue includ: Amiodarone Hydrochlorid@ablets; AnastrozoleTablets;
Carvedilol Tablets; Divalproex SodiumCapsules;Meloxicam Tablets; Paroxetine Tablets;
TamsulosinHydrochloride CapsulesTopiramateTablets; Venlafaxine Hydrochloride Tablets;
andWarfarin Sodium Tblets(collectively,the“GenericDrugs”). (ECFNo.9at{ 2.)



governmenusesthe pricesreportedto the Publishers testablishthe FUL reimbursementates
for generiadrugs andvariousstategovernmentsan turn,rely onFUL whensettingtheirMaximum
Allowable Cost(*“MAC”) reimbursementatesfor genericdrugs.(ld.)®

In broad strokesRelatorsallege Zydus’s price inflation causedMedicaid programsto
overpay, not onlyfor the GenericDrugsatissue butalsofor genericdrugsin thesametherapeutic
class(1d.)® As aresultof Zydus’sallegedpriceinflation, everystateMedicaidprogramthatfactors
in the FUL or AWP whendeterminingreimbursementateswas causedo pay far morefor the
GenericDrugsthanZydus’sretail customers(ld. andat Ex. 13.)

RahimiandRashidhavebeenpharmacistsince2007and2009,respectively(ECFNo. 9
atf16-7.)Rahimiopenedisown pharmacyPotomadiealthPharmacyin WoodbridgeVirginia
in November 2009.4. at § 6.)“It wasduring thetime [Rahimi] owned hisown pharmacythathe
discoveredDefendant’sallegedfraudulent pricingscheme.”(Id.) Sincereceivinghis pharmacy
license,Rashidhasworkedas a pharmacistat his family’s pharmacyfFancyPharmacyjn New
York City. (Id. at117-8.)As apharmacist;Rashidhasworkedwith two wholesalersKinray, Inc.
andAmerisourceBergenand“receive[d]pharmaceuticgbricing lists from thesetwo wholesalers
which include thdist of availablegenericdrugs,the drugs'manufacturerandtherelatedprice.”
(Id. at § 9.) When Rahimi “began processing thelaims for the Zydus genericdrugs|, he]

discoveredheDefendantsfraudulentpricing scheme.(1d.)

®> Many statessuchasNew York, alsouse theeportedAWP to establisttheir MAC. (ECFNo. 9
at74.)

® Attachedas exhibits to the FAC are ten (10) invoicesand claims submittedto New York
Medicaidasrepresentativexamplegurportingto show thanflated AWPsthat Zydusreportedo
the publisheBlue Book. ECFNo. 9at157-66 andExs.3-12.)Relatorsallegethatacomparison
of theMedicaidclaimsand invoicego thepricespaidby retail pharmacieshows spreads of up
424%. (d. atExs.1-2.)



Specifically, the FAC alleges“Rahimi began his initial investigation of the pricing
disparitythatappearedh severalof thegenericdrugmanufacturerspricingsofferedto him at his
former retail pharmacy. . . [which]led him to Zydus, a relatively new companyto the generic
manufactures’ marketplace.{ld. at Y 10.)‘Rashidhadalsobecomeawareof the pricing disparity
andresultinghigherreimbursementateson Medicaidclaimswhenhebegan processingaimsat
his pharmacy.”(ld. at  11.)Relators*begandiscussinghis issueof pricing disparityandhigher
reimbursemendf the Medicaid claimsfor genericdrugs”and“found thatall of Rashid’sclaims
hadsimilar [sic] high reimbursementatesfor Zydus’s drugs.”Ifd. at{{11-12.) Relatorscontend
they “gained first-hand knowledge of Zydus’sic] fraudulent pricingschemethrough their
investigationandhavethe claimsdocumentshatreflectthatthe Zydusdrugsat issueare part of
Zydus’ [sic] allegedfraudulent pricingscheme.(Id. at { 12.)This suit followed.

Zydus nowmovesto dismissthe FAC on the followinggrounds: (1) the Courtlacks
jurisdiction pursuanto Feceral Rule of Civil Procedurel2(b)(1),becausdRelators’claimsare
prohibitedby the FCA’s Public DisclosureBar and Relatorsare not an original source;(2) the
FAC does nossatisfythe heightenedleadingrequirementdor fraud claims of FederalRule of
Civil Procedur®(b);and(3) Relatos havdailedto stateaclaim pursuanto FederaRule ofCivil
Procedure 12(b)(6JECF No. 101-1at 7-29.) Zydusalso movesto dismissRelatorsparallel”
statelaw claimson thesamegrounds. Ig. at 30-32.) Additionally, ZydusarguesRelatorsarenot
authorizedo bringmanyof the satelaw claimsandmanyof thoseclaimsaretime-barred.(ld. at
33-34.)Finally, Zydusargueshe Court shoulddeclineto exercisesupplemendal jurisdiction over
Relators’ state law claims becauseheir foundationalfederal claims lack merit and should be

dismissed(ld. at 34.)



Il. LEGAL STANDARDS

a. Satisfactionof Rule 9(b)

Forafraud-basedlaim, a courtmaygrant anotionto dismisspursuanto FederalRuleof
Civil Procedur®(b)if theplaintiff fails to pleadwith therequiredparticularity. SeeFrederico v.
Home Depqt507 F.3d 188200-02(3d Cir. 2007) Basedon the nature daheir claims,Relators
must satisfy the heightenedpleading requirement of Rulé(b), which requiresthat “in all
averment®f fraud or mistake thecircumstancesonstitutingfraud or mistakeshall be statedwith
particularity.” Fed.R. Civ. P.9(b). The heightenegleadingstandardjivesdefendantsnotice of
the claims againstthem, providesan increasedmeasureof protectionfor their reputationsand
reduceghe number of frivolousuitsbroughtsolelyto extractsettlements.In re Burlington Coat
Factory SecuritiesLitig., 114 F.3d 1410, 141€d Cir. 1996). Essentially,“[a] plaintiff must
supportallegations offraud with all the essentiafactualbackgroundhat would accompanythe
first paragraptof any newspapestory —thatis, the who, what, where,and how of theeventsat
issue."Hemyv. PurdueFarms,Inc., CaseNo. 11-888, 201 WL 6002463at*13 (D.N.J.Nov. 30,
2011)(internalcitationsomitted).

b. Standard for DismissalPursuant to Rule 12

I. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)

In decidinga motion to dismisspursuanto FederalRule of Civil Procedurel2(b)(6), a
district courtis “requiredto acceptastrue all factualallegationsin the complainianddraw all
inferencesn thefactsallegedin thelight most favorabldo the[plaintiff].” Phillips, 515 F.3d at
228.“[A] complaintattackedy a . . motionto dismissdoes noheeddetailedfactualallegations.”
Bell Atlanticv. Twombly 550U.S.544, 555 (2007 However thePlaintiff's “obligationto provide

the ‘grounds’ of hisentitle[ment] to relief’ requiresmore than labels and conclusionsand a



formulaicrecitationof theelementf acauseof actionwill not do.”Id. (citing Papasarv. Allain,
478U.S.265, 286 (1986)). A couit “not boundto accepiastrue alegal conclusioncouchedasa
factual allegation.” Papasan 478 U.S. at 286. Insteal, assuming théactual allegationsin the
complaintaretrue, those”[flactual allegationamustbe enougho raisearight to relief above the
speculativdevel.” Twombly 550U.S. at 555.

“To survive amotion to dismiss,a complaint mustontain sufficient factual matter,
acceptedastrue, to ‘stateaclaim for relief thatis plausible onts face.” Ashcroftv. Igbal, 556
U.S.662, 678 (2009(citing Twombly 550U.S.at570).“A claim hasfacial plausibility whenthe
pleadedfactual contentallows the courtto draw the reasonablenferencethat the defendants
liablefor misconductlleged.”Id. This“plausibility standardrequireshe complainallege“more
thanasheermossibilitythatadefendanhasactedunlawfully,” butit “is notakinto a ‘probability
requirement.”” Id. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). “Detailed factual allegations” are not
required, butmore than‘an unadorned, the defendamrmedme accusation’must be pledit
must include“factual enhancementsand not just conclusorgtatementor arecitationof the
elementf acauseof action.ld. (citing Twombly 550U.S. at 555, 557).

“Determiningwhethera complaintstatesa plausibleclaim for relief [is] . . . acontext
specifictask that requires theeviewing courtto draw on its judicial experienceand common
sense.’Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679.“[W]here the well-pleadedfacts do notpermitthe courtto infer
more than the mere possiblity of misconduct, the complairtas alleged—but it has not

‘show[n]'—'that thepleaderis entitledto relief.”” 1d. at 679 (quoting~ed.R. Civ. P.8(a)(2)).



ii.  Federal Rule of Civil Procedure12(b)(1)

Whenconsidering anotionto dismissfor lack of jurisdiction pursuanto FederalRule of
Civil Procedurel2(b)(1),“no presumpti[orof] truthfulnessattachedo a plaintiff's allegations.”
Martinezv. U.S.PostOffice 875F. Supp. 1067, 107(D.N.J. 1995)(citing Mortensenv. First
Fed.SavAndLoanAssh, 549 F.2d 884, 8%Bd Cir. 1977)).“Accordingly, unlike a Rule 12(b)(6)
motion, consideration of a Rule 12(b)¢hptionneednot belimited; conflicting written andoral
evidencanaybeconsiderecinda courtmay ‘decidefor itself thefactualissuesvhich determine
jurisdiction.” Id. (citing Williamsonv. Tucker 645F. 2d 404, 4135th Cir.), cert. denied 454
U.S. 897 (1981)).Nonetheless,[w]here an attack on jurisdiction implicates the merits of
plaintiff's federalcauseof action,thedistrictcourt’srolein judging thefactsmaybe mordimited.”
Martinez 875F. Supp.at 1071 (citing Williamson 645 F.2dat 413 n.6).Oncea Rule 12(b)(1)
challengeis raised,the burdenshifts and the plaintiff must demonstrate thexistenceof subject
matterjurisdiction.PBGCv. Whitg 998F. 2d 1192, 11963d Cir. 1993).

When a defendant moves to dismiss a claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), the court must determine whether defendant is makiogkoiféactual
challenge to the court’s subject matter jurisdictidaduld Elecs., Inc. v. United Stat&20 F.3d
169, 176 (3d Cir. 2000Mortensen v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d
Cir. 1977). Under a facial attack, the movant challenges the legal sufficietitey d&im, and the
court considers only “the allegations of the complaint and documdeteneed therein and
attached thereto in the light most favorable to the plaintidduld Elecs. 220 F.3d at 176;
Mortensen549 F.2d at 891 (“The facial attack does offer similar safeguards to thefpjasa
12(b)(6) motion]: the court must consider the allegations of the complaint as true.Qdtht

“may dismiss the complaint only if it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff will nablgeto



assert a colorable claim of subject matter jurisdictianG. v. Somerset Hills Sch. Disb59 F.
Supp. 2d 484, 491 (D.N.J. 2008) (citidgrdio-Medical Assoc., Ltd. v. CrozeLhester Med. Cty.
721 F.2d 68, 75 (3d Cir.1983)).

Under a factual attack, however, the challenge is to the trial court’s “osvgrgo hear

the case.Mortensen549 F.2d at 891. Thus:
[T]here is substantial authority that the trial court is free to weigh theresedsnd
satisfy itself as to the existence of its power to hear the case. In short, no
presumptive truthfulness attaches to plaintiff's allegations, and the existence
disputed material facts will not preclude the trial court from evaluating &if itse
merits of jurisdictional claims.
Mortensen 549 F.2d at 891. Moreover, in a factual attack, “the court may consider and weigh
evidence outside the pleadings toedgtine if it has jurisdiction.Gould Elecs.220 F.3d at 178.

Regardless of the analysis, the plaintiff bears the burden of demonstratingstbacexof
subject matter jurisdictiorBee McCann v. Newman Irrevocable Trd&i8 F.3d 281, 286 (3d Cir.
2006); Lightfoot v. United State$64 F.3d 625, 627 (3d Cir. 2009) (citi@@rpet Grp. Int'l v.
Oriental Rug Importers Ass'1227 F.3d 62, 69 (3d Cir. 2000)).

Here, Defendants are asserting a facial 12jlgballenge. They do not dispute the facts
asserted by Plaintiff but rather argue that the claims asserted to nateptbiss Court with
jurisdiction. This “facial” attack limits the Court’s review to the pleadings ainbés attached
thereto, and th€ourt must consider the allegations in the light most favorable to Pla@wifild
Elecs, 220 F.3d at 178Ylortensen549 F.2d at 891. Plaintiff bears the burden of proving subject
matter jurisdictionMcCann 458 F.3d at 286Lightfoot 564 F.3d at 627and the Court must

dismiss the complaint if it appears to a certainty Plaintiff cannot demonstalerable claim of

jurisdiction,D.G., 559 F. Supp. 2d at 491.



1. DECISION

a. Relators’ Claims Under the Federal FCA

“In broad strokes, tHeCA imposegenaltieson persongvho knowingly submit fraudulent
claimsto the Government.United Statesexrel. Paranichv. Sorgnard 396 F.3d 326, 33@dCir.
2005. “To encourage thierretingout offraudagainst the government, tREA incentivesprivate
individualsawareof suchfraudto bring [qui tanj civil actionsasrelatorsagainsthosesubmitting
suchclaimsby allowingrelatorsto collectapercentag®ef any recovey.” Id. Here,Relatorsassert
claimsagainsZydus undethreeprovisions of th&CA andthe“parallel” provisions of the various
states’'falseclaimsstatutes.

First, Relatorsallege Zydusviolated 31 U.S.C. 8729(a)(1)(A),which imposediability
on anypersonwho “knowingly presentsor causego bepresentedafalseor fraudulentlaim for
payment or approval’HCF No. 9 at 11 79-83, 115-18)by (1) causingpharmaciego present
claimsto the governmertasedon” AWPs*“that werefor substatially higher amounts of money
than the retail pharmaciesactualacquisitioncosts” (id. at § 79),and (2) creatinga margin or
“spread”’betweerits AWPsandnetpricesfor GenericDrugsasan“unlawful inducementto have
pharmaciespurchaseits prescrigion drugsin violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute
(“AKS"), 42 U.S.C. § 1320@b(b)(2)(B),amendedy PubL. 114-115, 12Stat.3131(Dec. 28,
2015) (imposingliability on any personwho “knowingly and willfully offers or pays any
remuneration . .to anypersorto inducesuchperson . . to purchase . .anygood . . for which
paymentmay be madein whole orpartunder aFederalhealthcareprogram”). SecondRelators
allege Zydusviolated 31 U.S.C. 83729(a)(1)(B),which imposesliability on any personwho
“knowingly makes,uses,or causesdo be madeor used, dalserecordor statementmaterialto a

falseor fraudulentlaim” (ECFNo. 9 at 184-110, 119-22)hy (1) reportingfalse AWPs, which

10



werematerialto the claimspharmaciepresentd to the governmentd. at § 84),and(2) causing
pharmaciedo make false certifications of compliancewith federal and statelaws relating to
Medicaid(id. at11845). Third, RelatorsallegeZydusviolated31 U.S.C. 8729(a)(1)(C)which
imposediability onanypersorwho “conspireso commita violation” of theFCA (ECFNo. 9 at
11 111-14, 123-24)by offering its pharmacycustomerssignificant discountsoff AWPs as an
incentiveto purchasets prescriptiondrugsinsteadof its competitors’drugs.
Zydusraisesseverahrgumentsn support ofdismissalFirst, Zydusargued=AC shouldbe
dismissedfor lack of subjectmatterjurisdiction, pursuantto FederalRule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(1), becauseRelators’ allegationsof AWP-fraud are basedupon public disclosuresm
gualifying sourcesand Relatorsare not an original source(s)of disclosuresconcerningAWP.
(ECFNo. 101-1at 10-17.)Specifically, ZydusassertsaumerousAWP-fraud lawsuitshavebeen
filed againstdrug manufacatirerssince 1995, includingat leastfour (4) qui tamsuits brought on
behalfof thefederalgovernmentthree(3) classactionsby privateinsurers afederalMDL in the
District of Massachusettsandtwenty-seven(27) casediled by stateAttorneysGeneraf (ECF
No. 101-1 at 10 and Appendix A.) Similarly, Zydus argues,since at least 1984, thefederal
governmenthas published dozens of publieportsandstatementsharacterizinlAWP asa‘list
price’ or ‘sticker price’ andexaminingtherelationshipbetweenAWPs andnetdrug prices” and,
“since 1985, numerous Congressionabmmittees have held hearings and issued reports
examiningAWRP, its role in Medicareand Medicaid reimbursementand its impact on federal

healthcarg@rogramexpenditure$or presciption drugs.” (d. at12andAppendix B.) And;[e]ven

" Seeln re Pharmaceutical IndustrverageWholesalePrice Litig., MDL No. 1456(D. Mass.)

8 The following stateson behalfof which Relatorsbring suit havdiled AWP casesCalifornia,
Connecticut, FloridaHawaii, lllinois, lowa, Louisiana, MassachusettsMinnesota, Montana,
NevadaNew JerseyNew York, OklahomaTexas,andWisconsin(ECFNo. 101-1at10 n.11.)

11



before the first AWP lawsuits, articles in numerous newspapersnagazines,and trade
publications”allegedlyreportedon AWPs andtheir relationshipto andimpacton Medicareand
Medicaid reimbursemen (Id. at 13-14.) ZydusarguesRelators’allegationsare basedon these
public disclosureandRelatordack anyindependent adirectknowledgeconcerninghealleged
AWRP fraud. (Id. at 14-20.)

Next, Zydus contends the Court shodidmissRelators’FCA claimsfor failing to statea
claim, pursuanto Feceral Rule of Civil Procedurd 2(b)(6),becausdrelators’allegationsdo not
meetthe particularityrequiremenbof Rule9(b). (Id. at 20-29.)Accordingto Zydus,Relatorsfail
to allege (1) Zydusmadea statemenbr causedhepresentatiorof a“false” claim; (2) any*“false”
claim wasactuallypresentedo the government; and/¢8) Zydus’'sAWPs were materialto any
falseclaimspresentedo the governmentld. at 21-27.) ZydusalsoarguesRelators allegations
do not evidencanintentto induceits pharmacyustomerso purchasanyparticulardrugor other
detailsof theallegedkickback andfurther,“relatorsdo notexplainhow Zydus’ [sic] payment of
alleged‘kickbacks’ would haveeausedgoharmacieso violate stateMedicaid programsrulesand
therebysubmit‘false’ certifications.”(ld. at 28.) Zydusalsoargues'Relatorshavefailed to allege
facts regardingany agreementor ‘meeting of the minds’ beaveen Zydus and its pharmacy
customers.”Id. at 30.)

Finally, Zydusarguesthe Court shouldlismissRelators’ sate law claimsfor the same
reasonsstheir federalFCA claimsand, additionallybecausd&elatorsarenot authorizedo bring
certain of theseclaims and someare time-barred. [d. at 30-34.) Alternatively, if the Court
dismissefelators’federalclaims,Zydusargueghe Court should declinie exercisesupplemental

jurisdiction over thé satelaw claims (Id. at 34.)

12



Relatorsoppose the motion, arguing noatthe allegedly public disclosures mentions
Zydus or informatiorsufficient to identify Zydus. (Relators’Mem. (ECF No. 106).) Relators
contend Zyduss not apartyto anyof the prior AWP-fraud lawsuits,is not mentionedn any of
the government reports hearingsandhad not evenbegunselling the drugsat issuewhenthe
vastmajority of thelawsuitswerefil edandreportspublished.Id. at 1, 6-14.)Relatorsalsocontend
none of theallegedlypublic disclosures discloske priceatwhich Zydus sold th&enericDrugs
at issueto retail pharmacieswhich Relatorsassert‘is a crucial componento the fraudulent
schemdthey] exposed (Id. at 1.) Regardlessf whethertherewerepublic disclosures, however,
Relatorsarguetheyarenonetheles$original sourceshecauseheyhavedirectandindependent
knowledge ofthis information. (d. at 14-17.)Finally, Relatorsarguethe FAC pleadsactionable
FederalandStateFCA claims,andtheir factualallegationsarepledwith sufficientparticularityto
satisfyRule9(b).

I. The FCA'’s Public DisclosureBar

“In 1986, Congress sougfftjo revitalize the qui tamprovisions; U.S.exrel. Mistick
PBTv. Housing Authority o€ity of Pittsburgh 186 F.3d 376, 3823d Cir. 1999) (quotindJ.S.ex
rel. Stinson, LyonsGerlin & BustamanteP.A.v. Prudentiallns. Co, 944 F.2d 1149, 115d
Cir. 1191)), inaneffort “to strike abalancebetweerencouragingrivatepersongo root outfraud
andstifling parasiticlawsuits; United Statesexrel. Zizic v. Q2 Administrators,LLC, 728 F.3d
228, 2353dCir. 2013).As aresult,Congresenacted1 U.S.C. 8730(e)(4)(A)which provides:

No courtshall havejurisdiction over an action underthis sectionbasedupon
the public disclosure oéllegationsor transactionsn a criminal, civil, or
administrative hearing, in a congressional administrative or Government
Accounting Office report, earing, audit, orinvestigation,or from the news

media, unless theaction is broughtby the Attorney Generalor the person
bringing theactionis an original source ofhe information.

13



31 U.S.C. 8730(e)(4)(A)2006)(the“Public DisclosureBar”). Congessamendedhe provisions
of the Public Disclosurd®ar in 2010.See31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4) (2010As the Defendant
acknowledges,[t] he differencebetweenthe two versions of the public disclosubaris largely
procedural.® (ECF No. 101-1 at 8.) “Subsantively, the 2010amendmentdeft the test for
applicationof the public disclosure béargelyunchanged.{ld. at9.) Undereitherversion, then,
“[tlhe Public DisclosureBar applieswhere: (1) informationwas publicly disclosedvia a source
listedin 8 3730(e)(4)(A){2) the public disclosure includexh ‘allegation or transaction'within
themeaningof thestatute;and(3) the complaints ‘basedupon’ those disclosuresUnited States
exrel. Morganv. ExpressScripts,Inc., No. 05-1714, 2013NL 6447846t *4 (D.N.J.Dec.9,
2013)(citing United Statesexrel. Atkinsonv. Pa. Shipbuilding Cq.473 F.3d 506, 51@3d Cir.
2007)).

“Starting out with the first and secondelements, [the Court] analyze[s] whether
‘information was [publicly] disclosedvia oneof thesourcedistedin 8 3730(e)(4)(A).”Zizic, 728
F.3d at 235 (quotingAtkinson 473 F.3dat 519). By its plain terms,the Public Disclosur®ar
covers“allegations. . .from thenewsmedia,”31 U.S.C. 83730(e)(4)(A),aswell asallegations
filed aspartof civil complaintssee,e.g., Paranich396 F.3dat 334 (holdinghat“a complaintin
acivil actionfalls into thecontextof ‘criminal, civil, oradministrativenearings’andis sufficiently
public within themeaningof the [Public DisclosurBar] to constitutea publicdisclosure”).

“Moving onto thethird element|the Court] consider[sihethertheinformationpublicly
disclosedin the [qualifyingsource]constitutedallegationsor transactionf fraud.” Zizic, 728

F.3dat 235.“An allegationof fraudis an explicit accusatiorof wrongdoing.”ld. (citing U.S.ex

° The dateof theallegedlyfalseclaim determinesvhich version of thestatuteapplies.Seeln re
Plavix Mktg., Sale$ractices& Prods. Liab.Litig., MDL No. 12-2418, 201%VL 4997077 at*5
(D.N.J.Aug. 20, 2015).
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rel. Dunleavyv. Cnty. of Del.,, 123 F.3d 734, 741(3d Cir. 1997)). As such, to constitute
‘allegationsor transactionswithin themeaningof the Public DisclosurBar, the public disclosure
musteitherallegethe actualfraud, or mustallegeboth themisrepresentedtateof factsandthe
true stateof facts suchthat an inferenceof fraud may be drawn.”ExpressScripts,2013 WL
6447846at*5 (noting “public disclosuref thematerialelementf afraudclaim hasbeenfound
to be enougho bara quitamactionevenif the disclosuréself does notllegeanywrongdoing”)
(citationsomitted)

Significantly, the“basedupon” component of the Public DisclosuBar doesnotrequire
that the publiclydisclosedinformation be theactualand only basisof therelator's complaint.
Rather,the relator’s allegations“need only be ‘supportedy’ or ‘substantiallysimilar to’ the
disclosedallegationsand transactions.’Atkinson 473 F.3dat 519 (quotingU.S. exrel. Mistick
PBT v. Housing Auth.186 F.3d 376, 385-9@Bd Cir. 1999)). As such, theThird Circuit has
expresshheldthatthephrase’basedupon” doesnotmean“actually derivedfrom,” becauseuch
aninterpretationrwouldrenderthe original sourcexceptiorsuperflous.Mistick, 186 F.3cat 385-
88.

TheThird Circuit “adopteda formulato representvheninformationpublicly disclosedn
aspecifiedsourcequalifiesasanallegationor transactiorof fraud”.

If X +Y =2, Zrepresentshe allegationof fraudand X andY representts
essentiaklementsin orderto disclose the fraudulemtansactiorpublicly, the

combination of XandY must berevealedfrom whichreaderor listenersmay
infer Z, i.e., the conclusiothatfraud hasbeencommitted.

Zizic, 728 F.3dat 236 (quotingDunleavy 123 F.3dat 741 (quotingU.S. ex rel. Springfield
TerminalRy. Co.v. Quinn 14 F.3d 645, 654D.C. Cir. 1994))).“The essentiaklementsof the

allegationof fraud [Z] are‘a misrepresentatiofiX] andatrue[Y] stateof facts.” Id. (quoting
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Atkinson 473 F.3dat 519). “Thus, the public disclosubarapplies’if eitherZ (fraud) or both X
(misrepresentethcts)andY (truefacts)are[publicly] disclosedoy way of alisted source.”ld.

Zydusargues'it is abundantlyclearthatallegations of industrywide AWP ‘fraud’ have
beenextensivelydisclosedn dozens ofjualifying sources.(ECFNo. 101-1at 14.) As Relators
arguein opposition, however, “nonef the materialsthat Zydus submitsevenmentions Zydus,
muchlesstheallegationthatit reportedinflated AWPs for the drugsatissueto Publishersvhile
chargingretail pharmaciesignificantlylessand using thespreado induce business(ECF No.
106 at 8.) The Courtis not persuadedby Zyduss argumenthatit wasimmediatelyidentifiable
from thesedisclosuredvecausdt is allegedly“one of thelargestpharmaceuticatompaniesn the
United States’ (ECF No. 101-1at 16.) IndeedasRelatorscogentlyargue,Zydusis not readily
identifiable from these public disclosuresbecause(l) Zydus is not one of thelargest
pharmaceuticatompaniesn the United States(or evenamongthe top50 in termsof sales);(2)
dozens otompaniesnanufacturehe drugsatissue;and(3) thevastmajority of thesematerials
werefiled or publishedefore Zydusevenreceived=DA approvatto sellthe drugsatissue (ECF
No. 106at 8-9.) At aminimum,theseissuesof fact cannot beesolvedon thecurrentrecord.

The Courtalsofinds, contraryto Zydus’sassertionsthe public dsclosuresof industry-
wide AWP-fraud do not provide théessentialelements’of Relators’claims— namely,Zydus’s
identity as an industryparticipantand the GenericDrugs and specific transactionsat issue—
sufficientto trigger the public disclosurbar.SeeU.S. exel. Baltazarv. Warden 635 F.3d 866,
868 (7th Cir. 2011)(“As far aswe cantell, no court ofappealssupports theview that a report
documentingvidespreadalseclaims, but notattributingthemto anyonein particular,block qui
tam litigation again$ everymemberof the entireindustry.”); U.S.exrel. VenA-Carev. Actavis

Mid Atl., LLC, 659F. Supp. 2d 262, 267-1®. Mass2009) (explainingourtshaverequiredmore
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targeteddisclosurethan allegationsof industry-widefraud to trigger the public disclosuréar);

U.Sexrel. Cooperv. Blue Cross& Blue Shield of Fla.Inc., 19 F.3d 562, 565 (11Gir. 1994)
(holding that a generalaccountingoffice reportdiscussingwidespreadviedicarefraud was not
sufficientto trigger the public disclosurbar); U.S.exrel. Stinson, LysorGGerlin & Bustamante,
P.A.v. ProvidentLife & Accidentins. Co, 721F. Supp. 1247, 125.D.Fla. 1989) (holdingqui

tamsuit notbarredwheregovernmenteportsdid not disclose thdefendant’snameor its alleged
fraudulent conduct).

The case<Zydusreliesuponaredistinguishableln Zizic, for example the Third Circuit
heldthat“evenif [defendantsjvere not actuallyidentifiedin the [public disclosure], theyere
directly identifiable from” it becausehe industry at issuewas “an industry ofone” and the
defendantsverethe only industryparticipants‘during their respectivecontractuakerms” Zizic,
728 F.3dat 238. Similarly, in Express Scripts the district court found that defendants,
pharmaceuticgbublisherswhile notexpresslynamedn prior disclosuresyereidentifiablefrom
previouscomplaintsbecausdherewere “only three pharmaceuticapublishers”who published
AWP prices. ExpressScripts 2013WL 6447846,at *4; seealso Paranich 396 F.3dat 335
(finding the public disclosure baappliedwherethe prior disclosuréset out thesameallegations
againsta commordefendant)J.S.exrel. Feldsteinv. Organon 364F. App’x 738(3d Cir. 2010)
(applying the public disclosurbar because“the allegationsin Feldstein’s complaint are
substantiallysimilar to allegationghatwere publicly disclosedn earlierRaplonrelatedpersonal
injury lawsuitsagainsOrganon”;i.e., thesameproductandpartybeingsuedn thequi tamaction)

Comparedo the “industry of one’in Zizic, or similarly smallindustryin ExpressScripts
Relatorsallegethe generiddrug manufacturing industris quite large. (SeeECF No. 106 at 12

n.10 (noting“there were over 1,500pharmaceuticabnd medicinemanufacturingfirms in the
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United States”).)Basedon thesizeof the industry, amongtherthings,the Court finds Zyduwas
notimmediatelyidentifiablefrom anyof the prior disclosures which Zyduswasnotspecifically
identified. See Balthazar 635 F.3dat 867 (finding that a “statementsuch as ‘half of all
chiropractors’claims are bogus’ does notevealwhich half andthereforedoes notpermit suit
againstanyparticularmedicalprovider’becausdt “takesa providerby-providerinvestigationto
locatethewrongdoers”) More importantly,Zydus could not havieeenidentifiedfrom theseprior
disclosuresbecauseZydus had not yet begunto sell the GenericDrugs at issuewhen those
disclosuresveremade Accordingly,this Court findstherewasno public disclosure drelators’
allegations.

il. Original SourceExceptionto the Public DisclosureBar

Irrespectiveof whethertherewas a public disclosure dRelators’allegationsthe Court
nonetheless finds theuBlic DisclosureBar does not applypecauseRelatorsare an “original
source” of the informationallegedin the FAC. See31 U.S.C. §83730(e)(4)(A).An “original
source’is definedas“an individualwho hasdirectandindependent knowledge of thidormation
onwhichtheallegationsaarebasedandhasvoluntarily provided the informaticio the Government
before filing an action under this sectionwhich is basedon the information.” 31 U.S.C. §
3730(e)(4)(B).The Third Circuit has “interpreteddirect to mean ‘marked by absenceof an
interveningagencyjnstrumentalityorinfluence:immediate.””Paranich 396 F.3cat335 (quoting
Stinson 944 F.2cat 1160).To be“direct,” the “knowledge must havarisenfrom [relator’s]‘own
efforts, . . . notby the labors of othergnd. . . [must notbe] derivative of the information of
others.” Feldstein 364F. App’x at 743 (findingrelatorwasnotan original sourcéecauséde did
not personallyvitnessor participaten theallegedfraud, butacquiredknowledgerom emailsand

conversationsvith otheremployees).
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To qualify asan original source, “theelator mustpossessubstantivenformationabout
the particularfraud, ratherthanmerelybackgroundnformationwhich enablesa putativerelator
to understand thsignificanceof a publiclydisclosedransactioror allegation.”Stinson944F.2d
at 1161 (“The paradigmatic‘original source’is a whistleblowing insider. This covers. . .
individualswho are closeobserversor otherwise involvedn the fraudulentictivity.”) (internal
marksandcitationomitted).The Third Circuit hascautioned‘courts [to] be mindful osuitsbased
only on secondhanahformation, speculation, backgrounidformation or collateralresearch.”
Atkinson 473 F.3dat 523 (internal marks and citation omitted). Accordingly, ‘{a] relator. . .
cannotestablishthat he is an original sourcesolely by relying on unsupported, conclusory
allegations.”U.S. exrel. Pritsker v. Sodexholnc., 2009WL 579380,at *13 (E.D. Pa.Mar. 6,
2009),aff'd, 364F. App’x 787 (3d. Cir. 2010).

ZydusarguesRelatorsdo not qualifyas“original sources’becausehey did not voluntarily
disclose any information to the governmenbefore filing this caseand have not provided
independent informatiothat materially addsto the information alreadyin the public domain.
(ECF No. 101-1at 17-20.) Additionally, “Zydusrequestsan opportunityto take discovery of
Relatorson their presumedtontentiorthat theyarean original sourceof theinformationalleged
in” the FAC. (Id. at16-17n.14.)

Initially, theFAC allegesRelatorgdisclosedheir allegationdo variousStategovernments
prior to filing suit. (SeeECF No. 9 at 1140, 151, 162, 173, 184, 195, 206, 217, 228, 239, 250,
261, 272, 283, 294, 305, 316, 327, 338, 349, 361, 372, 383, 394, 405, 416, 428, 439.) Moreover,
in responseo Zydus's factual attack, Relators submit their prefiling disclosureto the U.S.
Departmenbf JusticeandU.S. Attorneys’Office, indicatingtheydisclosedheirallegationgo the

Federalgovernmentaswell. (SeeDeclarationof JoelM. Androphy(ECFNo. 106-1).)
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TheFAC's factualallegationsalsoshowRelatorshavedirectandindependent knowledge
of theirallegations Individualscanhavedirectknowledgeby having“first-hand knowledge of the
fraudulent misconduct,” doy being“close observers.’Atkinson 473 F.3d at 520; Stinson 944
F.2d at 1154.“Others may qualify if their information resultsfrom their own investigations.”
Stinson 944 F.2dat 1161. Unlike theelatorin ExpressScripts 2013WL 6447846at*12, who
merely comparedthe publiclyavailable prices in one publicationto the prices in another
publication,Relatorsdentified Zydus,the GenericDrugsatissue thefalselyreportedAWPs, the
specificpricespaidby Relabrs’ pharmaciesheresultanspreadandspecificclaimssubmittedo
Medicaid. This information was for the mostpart, not publiclyavailable nor canit be said
Relatorsperformedonly an “eyeball’ comparisonof publicly-availableprice listings, as Zydus
contends.To the contrary, Relators owned the pharmaciespurchasingdrugs from Zydus,
personallyplacedordersfor thosedrugs, personallyfilled prescriptionsfor Medicaid patients,
personally observed Medicaid reimbursementfor the drugs at issue, and were able to
independentlydeterminethe resultantspread See Paranich396 F.3dat 336-37 (findingrelator
had“direct knowledgeof thebilling schemeébecausdiewasinvolvedin it”).

In short, thenformationRelatorgorovidein theFAC goeswell beyondgeneraldiscussions
of pharmaceuticaindustry price inflation and materially addsto information within the public
domainregardingZydus’sallegedAWP-fraud.As such, the Court finds the Public DisclosBaa
is notanimpedimentto Relators’FCA claimsagainst Zydus.

iii. Sufficiency of Relators’ Federal FCA Allegations

HavingdeterminedRelators’claimsarenot precludedoy the PublicDisclosure the Court
nextturnsto thesufficiencyof Relators’allegationsCounts I} of theFAC assertause®f action

under 31 U.S.C. § 3729), allegingZydus:(1) knowingly causedafalseor fraudulentlaimto be
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presentedo the governmerfor payment oapproval,n violation of 31U.S.C.88 3729(a)(1and
(@)(1)(A); (2) knowingly madeor usedor causedalserecordsor statementsandomittedmaterial
facts to getsuchfalseor fraudulentclaimspaid by the government, dhatwerematerialto false
or fraudulentclaims presentedo the governmentin violation of 31 U.S.C. 88 3729(aand
(2)(1)(B); and (3) conspiredwith its retail pharmacycustomersby offering thesecustomers
significantlylower pricesfor the GenericDrugsasaninducementywhile Zydusreportedalseand
fraudulent prices to the Publishers knowingMedicaid relied on such prices to establi®
reimbursementates,in violation of the AKS. By agreeingo thefinancial incentive ofthis price
spreadschemeRelatorsallegeZydusandits retail pharmacycustomergausedhe submission of
falseor fraudulentlaimsto Medicaid,in violation of 31 U.S.C. 88 3729(a)(a&nd(a)(1)(C).

Zydusarguesthe Court shouldlismissRelators’FCA claimsbecauséheyfail to allege:
(1) Zydusmadea statemenbr causedhe presentatiorof aclaim thatwas“false”; (2) any“false”
claim was actually presentedo the governmentand (3) the AWPs reportedby Zydus were
materialto anyfalseclaimspresentedo the governmen{ECFNo. 101-1at 20-27.) Additionally,
Zydus arguesRelators AKS claimsare not pleadwith particularity and their conspiracyclaim
fails to allegefacts regardingany agreemenbr “meetingof the minds’betweenZydusandits
pharmacycustomers(ld. at27-30.)

To statea claim under31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) of theCA, a plaintiff must pleadthree
elements?(1) thedefendanpresentedr causedo be presentedo anagentof theUnited States
aclaimfor payment;[9 (2) theclaimwasfalseor fraudulentand(3) thedefendanknew theclaim

wasfalseor fraudulent.”U.S.exrel. Schmidtv. Zimme, Inc., 386 F.3d 235, 24¢3d Cir. 2004).

10 The FCA definesaclaim, in pertinentpart,asa “requestor demand. . . for money oproperty
that. . .is presentedo anofficer, employeepragentof theUnitedStates . .” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(c)
(pre-FraudEnforcementandRecoveryAct, which expandediability under the=CA).
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“A 8§ 3729(a)(3xlaim requiresspecificintent; it does notequire‘that the conspirators intended
thefalserecordor statemento bepresentedlirectlyto the Government, but must besstablished
that they ageed that the false record or statementwould have amaterial effect on the
Government’'slecisionto paythefalseor fraudulentclaim.”™ U.S.v. Albinson Civ. No. 09-1791,
2010WL 3258266at*10 (D.N.J.Aug. 16, 2010) (quotindllison Engine Cov. United Statesex
rel. Sanders553U.S.662 (2008)).

FCA claims must bepleadwith particularityin accordancevith Rule 9(b), Schmidt 386
F.3d at 242 n.9,which requires“in all avermentsof fraud or mistake, the circumstances
constitutingfraud or mistakeshall be statedwith particularity” Fed.R. Civ. P.9(b). “To satisfy
this standard, thelaintiff must pleador allegethe date,time and placeof the allegedfraud or
otherwisenject precisionor somemeasuref substantiatiomnto afraudallegation.”Fredericov.
HomeDepot 507 F.3d 188, 20(Bd Cir. 2007). Although Rul®(b)’s requirementsrestringent,
“courts should be sensitivéo situationsin which sophisticateddefraudersmay successfully
concealhedetailsof their fraud.” In re RockefellelCtr. Prop.,Inc. Sec.Litig., 311 F.3d 198, 217
(3d.Cir. 2002)(internalmarksomitted).EssentiallyRule 9(b)equires'plaintiffs [to] accompany
theirlegaltheorywith factualallegationghat maketheir theoreticallyviableclaim plausible.”ld.
(citationsomitted).Becausehe Court finds th€ AC meetsthe Ruled(b) standardRelators’FCA
claimswill proceed.

Zydusfirst argueghat,becauséthereis nostatute regulationyule, or contracthatdefines
AWP . . .Relatorsdo not(and cannotallegethat Zydus’ [sic] AWPswere‘false’ asa matterof
law.” (ECFNo. 101-1at 24.) But courtshaveconsistentlyrejectedthe notionthat AWPs canbe
definedaswhateverprice drug manufacturerghoseto publish throughpricing compendiaSee,

e.g., Mass v. Mylan Labs, 608 F. Supp. 2d 127, 144D. Mass. 2008) (rejecting drug
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manufacturersproposediefinition of wholesaleaayuisition costsasan undiscountedlist price”

becauseit would give them “a virtual blank check” and finding “[tlhe suggestionthat the
Commonwealthiintendedto give the pharmaceuticaindustryfree reign over drug pricing is

absurd”);In re Pham.ndus. Av. Wholesaldrice Litig., 478F. Supp. 2d 164, 17@®. Mass.2007)
(givingdrugmanufacturerscart blancheo publishsky-high pricesunmooredrom theacquisition
costsof providersleadsto absurdresults”); In re Lupron Mktg. & SalesPracticesLitig., 295F.

Supp. 2d 148, 16@®. Mass.2003)(commentinghattheideathe government “wouldeliberately
condone a bribergchemeusing public funds$o enrichdrugmanufacturerand[others]is, to say
theleast,unusual”).

Next, ZydusarguesRelatorshave not allegedfacts demonstratinghat false claimswere
actuallysubmittedto the governmentecausénone of theclaimsattachedo Relators’Amended
Complaint includes areferencean AWP.” (ECFNo. 101-1at 25.) However,Exhibits 3 through
12to theFAC, which areclaimssubmittedoy Rashidto New York Medicaid,all clearlyshow the
reportedAWP. (See,e.g.,ECF No. 9 at Ex. 3 (listing Blue Book’s publishedAWP next to
“BBAWP,” or “Blue Book AverageWholesalePrice”.) Thus, theclaimsandinvoicesattachedo
theFAC provide areliableindiciathatfalseclaimswerepresentedo Medicaid.

Zydusalsoarguegshat, becausenone of theclaimsattachedo the FAC werereimbursed
basedbn AWP, Relatorscannot show ZydusieportedAWP wasmaterial.Thisargument borders
on the disingenuousas Zydus itself concedesthe federal governmentrelies on AWP as a
benchmarkor reimbursement decisio&CFNo. 101-1at22 (noting the governmehas‘us[ed]
or approv[edAWPsfor decadessabenchmarkor MedicareandMedicaidreimbursement”)id.
at 3 n.2 (describingAWP [as] the benchmarkoften usedto setreimbursementor prescription

drugs undef] Medicare”).)
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With respectto Relators’ AKS claims, Zydus arguesRelators“do not identify the
pharmaciesnvolved, the content of alateof anyattemptto ‘marketthespread’or any ‘unlawful
inducementto pharmaciesor the drugatissue.”(ECFNo. 101-1at 28.)But Rule 9(b) does not
requiresuchprecision.Rather,“[w]here it canbe showrthat the requisitefactual informationis
particularlywithin the defendant’s knowledge or control, tiggd requiremenbf [Rule] 9(b) may
berelaxed! Albinson 2010WL 3258266at*14 (citing Rockefeller311F.3dat217).“[T]o meet
the standards of Rule 9(b), .[Relatorsmust providéparticular detailsof aschemeo submit
falseclaimspairedwith reliableindicia thatleadto a stronginferencethat claimswereactually
submitted.” Fogila v. RenalVenturesMgmt.,LLC, 754 F.3d 153, 157-5@d Cir. 2014). The
Courthasalreadyfoundthattheclaimsandinvoicesattachedo the FAC provide areliableindicia
thatfalseclaimswerepresentedandRelatorsprovidesmorethansufficientdetailsof thealleged
schemeo put Zydus on notice of tiveclaims.

Finally, with respecto Relators’conspiracyclaim, “the allegationsof the conspiracypeed
only satisfythe notice pleadingtandard®f Rule 8.”U.S.exrel. Atkinsonv. Pa. Shipbuilding Cg.
Civ.A. N0.94-7316, 200WL 1207162at*10 (E.D.Pa.Aug. 24, 2000)TheFAC easilyprovides
suchnotice,by allegingthegeneralcomposition of the conspiracECFNo. 9at{ 123),its broad
objectives(id. at 1 3, 53),andZydus’sgenerakole in the conspiracyid. at § 53).

b. Relators’ State Law Claims (Counts 1V — XXXII)

In additionto theirfederalFCA claims Relatorsalsobring cause®f actionunder thdalse
claimsactsof 28statesandtheDistrict of Columbial! (ECFNo. 9at47-126.)As Zydusconcedes,
thereis “substantialsimilarity betweenthe FCA andeachof the statefalse claimsstatutesunder

which Relatorsbring suit.” (ECFNo. 101-1at 30.) Thusfor thesamereasons the Coudeclines

1 Relators’claimson behalf of theCity of ChicagowerepreviouslydismissedSeen.4.
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to dismiss Relators’ federal FCA claims, the Courtlikewise declinesto dismiss Relators’
“substantiallysimilar’ claims under the varioustates’qui tam statutes pecausdhese statutes
essentiallymirror thefederalFCA. Becausahe Courdeclineso dismissRelators’federalclaims,
thereis no basisfor the Courtto declineto exercisesupplementajurisdiction over Relators’
“substantiallysimilar” statelaw clams.See28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) (providinigr “supplemental
jurisdiction overall otherclaimsthatareso relatedto the claimsin the[federd] action. . .that
theyform part of thesamecaseor controversy”);31 U.S.C. 8§ 3732(l)The district courtsshall
havejurisdiction over any action brought under théaws of any Statefor the recoveryof funds
paidby a Stateor local governmenitf the actionarisesfrom thesametransactioror occurrences
anactionbrought undesection3730."). Where,ashere,a complaintassertdothfederalclaims
andstatelaw claims,adistrict courthassupplementglrisdictionoverall claimsthat“derivefrom
a common nucleus @éct. . .suchthat[a plaintiff] would ordinarilybeexpectedo try themall in
onejudicial proceeding."CarnegieMellon Univ. v. Cohill, 484 U.S. 343, 349 (1988) (quoting
United Mine Workersof Am. v. Gibbs 383 U.S. 715, 725(1966)). It would be the height of
inefficiencyto force Relatorsto try their statelaw claims(which Zydusadmitsare“substantially
similar” to the FCA claims)in aseparatgudicial proceeding.

The Courtalsofinds Relators’statelaw claimssatisfythe requirementof Rule9(b), for
the samereasongiscussedbovewith respecto Relators’FCA claim. Additionally, the Court
finds Relatorshave sufficiently allegeda nationwideschemeto defraudthe governmenby
alleging,amongother thingsjnformation about drugoricing foundin databasesf wholesalers
that providedservicesto pharmaciescrossthe nationaswell asdrug pricing in severalstates,
including Virginia, New York, and Texas.Indeed, ZydugoncedesRRelators’claimsunderNew

York law allege “reliable indicia” that false claims were presented(ECF No. 101-1 at 32.)
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NonethelessZydus arguesRelatorsfailed to allege “reliable indicia” that Zydus causedthe
presentatiorof false claimsto any otherstateor municipality, and Relatorsmust“allege some
specificitywith respecto eachassertedtate.”(ECF No. 101at 32 (quotingU.S. exel. Nowakv.
Medotronic,Inc., 806 F. Supp. 2d 310, 35({D. Mass.2011) (additionatitationsomitted).) The
Courtdisagrees.

In Nowak unlikehere the court foundhat,becaus¢herelatorhadnotpledspecificclaims
asto anystate |t could notinfer a nationwideschemeNowak 806F. Supp. 2dat 357 (noting‘one
judgein this District hasfoundthat specificallypled claimsin onestatearesufficientto support
an inferenceof a nationwideschemeand the pleadingsequirementsfor all state counts”).
Similarly, in U.S.exrel. King v. Solvay S.A.823F. Supp. 2d 472S.D. Tex. 2011), the court
declinedto dismisscertainfederal claims or relatel statelaw claims predicatedon thesame
theoriesbecausealthough therelator’s kickback allegationswere all from Texas, the relator
“allegedenoughdetailsof ageographicallydiverse kickbackchemedo reliablyindicatethatthere
was a nationwide kikbackscheme.”ld. at 497, 519;accord U.S.exrel. Saldivarv. Fresenius
Med.Care HoldingsInc., 906F. Supp. 2d 1264, 12{N.D. Ga.2012)(finding relator’'scomplaint
failed to allegea nationwide fraudulerttilling schemebecauseaelator had limited information
regardingnationalbilling policiesandhis firsthandknowledgewasbasedonly on hiswork with
clinicsin two states).

Unlike the complaintsin Nowak King and Saldivar, Relators’ FAC includesseveral
examplesof pricing disparitiesbetweenMedicaid reimbursementand wholesalepricing from
wholesatrs providing servicesto retail pharmaciesacrossthe nation, includingKinray and

AmerisourceBergen (ECFNo. 9atf110-11andExs.3-12.)The Courtfindstheseallegationsare
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sufficiently “reliable indicia” thatfalseclaimswere presentedo New York, asZydusconcedes,
aspartof a nationwideschemeo presentctuallyfalseclaimsto the government.

ZydusnextargueRelators'statelaw cause®f actionshould balismissedecausé[e]ach
stateand municipalfalse claims statuteunderwhich Relatorsbring suit(savefor the Louisiana
statute)requiresthat therelevantstateor municipality both declineto intervene andile a notice
with the court . . beforearelatormay proceedwith a quitam suit[,]” but thosgurisdictionsdid
not validlydeclinedto intervenen thiscase (ECFNo. 101-1at 33.) Zydus’sargumentasmerit,
but ultimatelyfails.

OnJanuary23, 2012, théJnited Statesnotified the Court ofits decisionnotto intervere
in thisaction.(ECFNo. 10.) The United States’Notice of Electionto Declinelnterventionfurther
states:

[T]he undersigned government counkak beenadvisedby the

following Statesthat they also declineto intervenein this action:

California, Conrecticut,Colorado Delaware District of Columbia,

Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, lllinois, Indiana, lowa, Louisiana,

Maryland,Massachusettddichigan, Minnesota, Montanblevada,

New Hampshire,New Jersey,New Mexico, New York, North

Carolina, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,ennesseeTexas, Virginia,

Wisconsinaswell astheCity of Chicago.
(Id.) Zydusarguesthe United States’filing did not validlydeclineintervention orbehalfof the
statesthe District of Columbia,andCity of Chicagobecausét fails to comply with the specific
intervention procedureset forth in eachjurisdiction’s false claims act. In responseRelators
simply refer the Courtto the United States’filing, which Relatorsargueprovided noticeof the
individual states’declination.

“Wheninterpretinga statute,the literal meaning of thetatuteis the mosimportant,and

[courts] are alwaysto readthe statutein its ordinaryandnaturalsense.”In re Harvard Indus.,

Inc., 568 F.3d 444, 451 (3dir. 2009) (quotingsallowayv. United Staes 492 F.3d 219, 23@d
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Cir. 2007)).Here,eachjurisdiction’sfalseclaimsactrequireseitherthejurisdiction or anofficial

thereofto notify the Court of that jurisdiction’s decisionto declineinterventiont? Plainly, this

12 Specifically,the Californiastatuterequiresthestate*Attorney Generalto “notify the courtthat
it declinesto proceedwith the action.”Cal. Gov't Code § 12652(b)(3)The Coloradostatute
requires‘the state”to “[n]otify the Courthatit declinesto takeover theaction,in which casethe
relator shall have the righto conductthe action.” Colo.Rev. Stat. 8 25.5-4-306(2)(d)(ll)The
Connecticut ®tuterequires‘the AttorneyGeneral’to “notify the court that the Attornegeneral
declinesto takeover theaction” Conn.Gen.Stat.8§ 17b-301d(a)The Delawarestatuterequires
the state"Departmentof Justice’to “[n]otify the courtthatit declinesto takeovertheaction” 6
Del. Code 81203(b)(4)(b)TheDistrict of Columbiastatuterequiresthe “AttorneyGenerafor the
District of Columbia’to “[n]otify the courtthat he or shaleclinesto take over theaction” D.C.
Code § 2-381.03(b)(4)BTY.heFloridastatuterequireshestate‘Departmeniof FinancialServices”
to “[n]otify the courtthatit declinesto take over the action” Fla. Stat. Ann. 68.083(6)(b)The
Georgiastatuterequiresthe state“Attorney General’to “[n]otify thecourtthatit declinesto take
over thecivil action” Ga.Code Ann. 849-4-68.2(c)(4)(B).The Hawaii statuterequires“the
State”to “[n]otify the courtthat it declinesto take over theaction” Haw. Rev. Stat. 8 661-
25(d)(2). Thelllinois statuterequires‘the State”to “notify the courtthatit declinesto takeover
the action” 740 Ill. Comp. Stat. 175/4(b)(4)(B).The Indianastatute providesthat “[i]f the
attorneygeneralor the inspectogeneralelectsnot to intervenein the action, the persornho
initially filed the complainhastheright to prosecute the action.” Ind. Code 85-11-5(8- The
lowastatuterequires'the state™to “[n]otify thecourtthatthestatedeclinego takeover theaction”
lowa Code Ann. § 685.3(2)(d)(ZyheMarylandstatuteprovidesthat, “[i]f the Statedoes notlect
to interveneandproceedwith theaction. . .beforeunsealing theomplaint,the courshalldismiss
the action.” Md. Code AnnHealthGen§ 2-604(7).The Massachusettstatuterequiresthe state
“attorneygeneral’to “notify the courtthathedeclinesto takeover theaction” Mass.Gen.Laws
Ann. Ch. 12 $C(4).TheMichiganstatuterequires thatate“attorneygeneralto “notify the court
andthe persorinitiating theaction. . . [t]hat [he] declinesto take over theaction” Mich. Comp.
Laws Ann. § 400.610a(3)(b)'he Minnesotastatuteprovidesthat“the prosecuting attorneghall
interveneor declineintervention.” Minn.Stat.815C.06(a)The Nevadastatuteprovidesthat the
state“Attorney Generalor adesigneeof the AttorneyGeneralpursuanto NRS 357.070” must
elect “whetherto intervene.”Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. 8357.080(4)The New Hampshirestatute
requiresthe“state” to “[n]otify the courtthatit declinesto takeover theaction” N.H. Rev. Stat.
Ann. 8 167:61¢(1l)(e)(2). The New Jerseystatuteprovidesthat the state*Attorney Generalkshall
.. .file apleadingwith the courtthat hedeclinesto proceedwith theaction” N.J.S.A. 2A:32C-
5(9)(2). The New Mexico statuteprovides thestate“attorney generalor political subdivisionshall
notify the courtthatthestate. . .declinesto takeover the action.N.M.S.A. § 44-95(D)(2). The
New York statuteprovidesthat “[i]f thestatedeclinesto participatein theactionor to authorize
participaton by a local government, the quiam action may proceed’ N.Y. Stat.Fin. Law §
190(2)(f). The North Carolinastatuteprovides that;[i]f the Stateelectsnotto proceedwith the
action,the quitamplaintiff shall have theight to conduct the actionN.C. Gen.Stat.8 1-609(f).
The Oklahomastatuterequiresthe “state” to “notify the courtthatit declinesto take over the
action” Okla Stat.Ann. tit. 63 8 5053.2(B)(4)(b)The Rhodelslandstatuterequiresthe “state”to
“[n]otify the courthatit declinego takeovertheaction” R.l. Gen.LawsAnn. § 9-1.14(b)(4)(ii).
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procedurenvasnot compliedwith prior to filing suit,asonly the United Statesnotified the Court
of its electionto decline intervention.HCF No. 10.) In arecentdecision,District Judge Jose.
Linaresof this Court found, undesimilarcircumstanceghata “JointNotice of Electionto Decline
Intervention”filed by the Acting Attorney Generalfor the Stateof New Jerseypurportedly on
behalf of the District of Columbiaand every state (except Texas) namedin the action was
insufficientto complywith therelevantstate’sfalse claimsacts.SeeU.S.exrel. Simpsorv. Bayer
Corp., No. 05-3895, 2014VL 1418293at*11 (D.N.J.Apr. 11, 2014)finding therequisitenotice
procedures eachstate’sfalseclaimsactwasnotcompliedwith anddismissingwithout prejudice
relator’s claims under thosestatuteswhere only the Acting Attorney Generalof New Jersey
purportedo notify thecourtof thosestateselectionsotto intervene) Thesameaeasoningpplies
to thiscaseandthe Court finds th&nited States’Notice of Electionto Declinelntervention does
not complywith the proceduresetforth in eachjurisdiction’sfalseclaimsact.

After Zydus’smotion wasfully-briefed, however, the Courteceivedformal noticefrom
the followingStatesadvising theyalsodeclineto intervendn this action:California, Connecticut,
Colorado, Delaware,District of Columbia, FloridaGeorgia,Hawaii, lllinois, Indiana, lowa,

Louisiana, MarylandMassachusettdvlichigan, Minnesota, Montan&levada,New Hampshire,

The Tennessestatuterequires théattorney generalandreporter’to “[n]otify the courtthat it
declinesto proceedwith the action” Tenn. Code Ann. 84-18-104b)(3)(B). The Texasstatute
providesthat “the stateshall. . . notify the courthat the statedeclinesto take over the action.”
Tex.Hum.Res.Code 8§ 36.104(a)(2).heVirginia statuterequireghe“commonwealth’to “notify
the courtthatit declinesto takeovertheaction” Va. Code Ann. 88.01-216.5(DJhe Wisconsin
statuterequiresthe“attorneygeneralto “[n]otify the courthathe orshedeclineso proceedvith
theaction” Wis. Stat. Ann. § 20.931(5)(d)(2)Lastly, the Chicagostatuteprovidesthat “the city
shall. . . notifythe courtthatit declinesto takeovertheaction” Municipal Code ofChicago8 1-
22030(b)(4)(B).Additionally, although Zydus did not move dismissRelators’claims under
Louisianalaw (Count 15), the Court noteshe Louisianastatutealso providesthat, “[i]f the
secretaryjof the Departmenbf HealthandHospitals,or his authorized designee,] or the attorney
generaldoesnot intervene the quitam plaintiff may proceedwith the quitam action,” La. Rev.
Stat.Ann. 8§ 46:439.2(B)(4)(b).
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New Jersey,New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Rhode Island;ennessee,
Texas,Virginia, Wisconsin. $eeECFNos.120to 140, 1420 144, 146.)

Although the Courtfinds the United States’ omnibus Notice of Election to Decline
Intervention(ECF No. 10) does nostrictly comply with therequirementof eachjurisdiction’s
falseclaimsact,in light of the Sates’subsequemntotices andin theinterestof judicial economy,
the Courtwill allow theseclaimsto proceed.

Finally, Zydus arguesthe Court shouldlismissall of Rdators statelaw claims which
accruedeforetheeffectivedateof therelevantstate’squi tamstatute Zyduscontends thqui tam
statutesof ConnecticutGeorgia,Indiana,lowa, Minnesota, Montand\ew JerseyNew Mexico,
New York, Oklahoma, and Rhodslandall took effectin or after 2005.(ECF No. 101-1at 34.)
With the exceptionof the Montanastatute!® however, Zydushas failed to show why these
remedialstatutesshould not beetroactivelyapplied. Indeed, contratyg Zydus’s arguments, both
the New York and New Mexico statutesare expresslyretroactive.See U.Sex rel. Bilotta v.
Novartis Pharm. Corp.50 F. Supp. 3d 497, 54(5.D.N.Y. 2014) (concludingthe New York
FCA hasretroactiveapplication’becauseamongotherreasonsiijn enactingtheNewYork FCA,
the New York legislatureprovidedthat ‘sectionthirty-nine ofthis act[which amendedhe New
York FinanceLaw to addtheNew York FCA] shall applyto claimsfiled or presentegbrior to,on
or after April 1, 2007""); N.M. Stat.Ann. 8 44-9-12 (authorizing @vil actionto be broughfor
conductthatoccurredprior to theeffectivedateof theAct, but notfor conducthatoccurredprior
to July 1, 1987)The Courtfinds retroactiveapplicationof thestates’qui tamstatutesvould not

be contraryto thelegislativeintent nomresultin manifestinjustice.SeeBradleyv. Sch.Bd. of City

13“Relatorsconcedehatthe MontandCA is expresslynotretroactiveandappliesonly to claims
accruingafter October 1, 2005.(ECFNo. 106at 34.)
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of Richmon¢g416U.S.696, 711 (1974However,the Courtwill dismisswith prejudiceRelators’
claimsunder the MontanBCA (Count 20)which accruedorior to Octoberl, 2005.
V. CONCLUSION

Forthereasonsetforth above Defendan Motion to Dismissis GRANTED in part and
DENIED in part. Relators’claimsunderthe MontanaFCA (Count 20)which accruedprior to
Octoberl, 2005areDISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. Zydus'smotionis DENIED in all other
respectsAn appropriate ordewill follow.
Date: April 25, 2017 /s/ Brian R. Martinotti

HON. BRIAN R. MARTINOTTI
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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